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Though built about 1870, the Laureano Cordova Mill was cons-
tructed in the design in use since the time of the Spanish
settlers. When Acorsino Cordova, the father of the present
owner constructed this mill, he followed the established tradi-
tion, with slight variations. The millstones were found and
fashioned near Dixon, New Mexico, 20 miles west of the site of
the mill. The grindstone was chipped and smoothed into a circu-
lar shape, 30 inches across and 6 inches thick with the under-
side left slightly bowed. Grooves allowing the meal to pour off
were chiseled into the face of the second millstone which was
shaped and smoothed into a square slab.

Water to power the Cordova Mill was carried along a ditch dug
parallel to the Rio Pueblo. The flow was controlled by a wood
irrigation gate before reaching a flume which directed the flow
of the water against the horizontal waterwheel turning it and
the grindstone to which it was directly linked by a vertical
axle, in a counter-clockwise rotation. The unusual position of
the waterwheel, (traditionally, a wagonwheel with boards fixed
to the spokes); and also of the grindstone and the millstone, as
well as the curious direction of rotation of the first two was
not peculiar to flour mills in New Mexico only, but also in
Mexico, the Spanish Pyrenees, southern Europe and the Middle
East.

A wood hopper resembling an inverted pyramid, was placed
above the grindstone, to one side of center to receive the
grain, replacing an ox-hide funnel common in earlier times.
Likewise, a silk screen sifter attached to one side of the mill-
stone replaced the former ox-hide receptacle strung beneath the
millstones to collect the meal.

As was customary, the millhouse was set atop several posts
and stones sunk into the bed of the ditch. The walls were
built of logs, hewn square and left flat at the ends, and joined
together with a double-notch at the corners. A door near the
corner on the north side faced the Cordova residence. Windows
were provided on every side with the removal of a section of logq
The spaces between the logs of the walls were never filled, but
clay was inserted between the planks of the floor to check the
loss of grain, and a layer of clay was laid over the flat roof
or azotea, giving some protection from the weather.

The preparation of the logs and the design of the millhouse
were strictly of Mexican origin, far different from the techni-
ques employed by the Anglo pioneers. The latter preferred round
unpeeled logs, characteristically dove-tailed at the end, and
notched in a variety of ways at the corners of the houses. Roofg
were beveled and doors were placed in the center of a side.

The Cordova Mill is still operated during the harvest season
by Mr. Laureano Cordova who has maintained it in excellent
condition.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Laureano Cordova Mill-is the onlx/known horizontal grist
mill in the state operating on a commercial basis at its origin
al site. Built over a hundred years ago by Acorcino Cordova,
the father of the present owner, it is similar in design to
the earliest mills constructed in New Mexico which were depend-
ent on running water. Gristmill operation was once a thriving
industry in northern New Mexico along the Rio Grande and its
tributaries. Despite adaptations, the basic design of the
primitive Spanish-Mexican period mills changed little and was
not affected even by the introduction of newer, sophisticated
milling machinery by French-Canadian and Anglo settlers after
U.S. occupation in 1846.

Except for scattered references to mills in last wills and
testaments and in a few legal documents during the Spanish and
Mexican periods, little documentation concerning them is extant
Early U.S. travelers, however, found the simple mechanisms
interesting, and recorded their findings often in some detail.
Lieutenant Zebulon M. Pike wrote one of the earliest of these
reports on March 1, 1807 during his brief incarceration at the
northern New Mexico village of Ojo Caliente. The mills at the
town of Manzano, southeast of Albuquerque, were described in
meticulous fashion on November 3, 1846 by Lieutenant James W.
Abert who was serving with the United States occupation forces.
W.W.H. Davis, U.S. Attorney for the Territory, told of coming
across one of a number of mills operating in Santa Fe while
wandering about the capital in 1855. An anonymous account
written in the fall of that year, described a mill in the area
around Socorro. In 1881, while enroute to Santa Fe, Lieutenant
John G. Bourke wrote of the mills he observed during a stopover
at Santa Cruz de la Canada. A number were in operation as late
as 1890, when William A. Thayer reported on them in his work
Marvels of the New West. Unfortunately, no traveler has left
a description of the Vadito Mill, however. ) ' )

Though many of these mills remained in use as late as the
1930's, they began to disappear soon after, giving way, along
with the early vertical-wheel flour mills of the area, to the
increased availability of finer-ground meal offered at competi-
tive prices. The Laureano Cordova Mill, however, still oper-
ates.
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